7 7 86 0/A4-1-88 33 18 98

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

DISTRICT COURT APPEAL NO. 85-2507

GLENN KAISNER and BARBARA KAISNER, his wife,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

Vs.

GARY JOSEPH KOLB, DALE ROBERT
JONES, PINELLAS COUNTY SHERIFF'S
DEPARTMENT, and AMERICAN DRUGGIST CLERK,
INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation
and DALE ROBERT JONES,

Defendants/Appellees.

JAN 1 1998

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By 1 on,

Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLANTS GLENN KAISNER and BARBARA KAISNER, his wife

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

DANIEL C. KASARIS, ESQUIRE
YANCHUCK, THOMPSON, YOUNG, BERMAN & LATOUR, P.A.
Post Office Box 4192
St. Petersburg, Florida 33731

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This is an action predicated upon the alleged negligence of two Pinellas County Sheriff's Deputies in their operation and use of a police vehicle, as well as their alleged negligent placement of a detainee in a perilous position during a non-emergency traffic stop. (R. 59-66) The Plaintiffs/Appellants, Mr. and Mrs. Glenn Kaisner, instituted appellate proceedings after the Honorable Trial Judge granted a Motion for Summary Judgment in favor of all Defendants, based upon the doctrine of sovereign immunity. (R. 116)

On Friday, June 29, 1979, at approximately 5:30 p.m., Glenn Kaisner was travelling south on 66th Street in St. Petersburg in the curb lane. He was operating a pickup truck with his wife, Barbara Kaisner, in the passenger seat, and five children in the back. (R. 153-154) At said time and place, he was stopped by two Pinellas County Sheriff's Deputies for an expired inspection sticker. (R 134)

The traffic stop was made in the curb lane of through traffic, and was effectuated through the use of the cruiser's overhead flashing lights, as well as the siren. (R. 134) The driver of the cruiser, Deputy Kolb, positioned the cruiser approximately one car length behind Mr. Kaisner's pickup truck. (R. 139) Upon being stopped, Mr. Kaisner exited his vehicle and walked between the two vehicles. At that time, Deputy Jones exited from the passenger side of the cruiser and instructed Mr.

Kaisner to "stay right there". (R. 153-154) Deputy Jones then got back into the passenger side of the police cruiser, where Deputy Kolb was performing a registration check with the cruiser's computer. (R. 141)

A couple of minutes later, Deputy Jones again exited from the passenger side of the cruiser and began moving toward Mr. Kaisner. Simultaneously, Mr. Kaisner began moving toward Deputy Jones to ask why he had been stopped. At that moment, the police cruiser was struck from the rear by a vehicle operated by Darla Jean Murray. (R. 154) The impact propelled the police cruiser forward, causing it to strike Mr. Kaisner, Deputy Jones, and the rear of the pickup truck.

The Kaisners brought action against Deputies Kolb and Jones, the Pinellas County Sheriff's Department, and American Druggist Insurance Company, insurer of the police cruiser. (R. 59-66)

The Second Amended Complaint alleges that the Deputies, while in the course and scope of their employment, were negligent in their use and operation of the police cruiser, as well as in their failure to use proper police procedure in conducting a non-emergency traffic stop. (R. 59-66) The Plaintiffs' allegations are supported in the record by the affidavit and deposition of Dr. George Kirkham, an expert in the field of police procedure. In Dr. Kirkham's opinion, the deputies' negligence proximately caused the Kaisners' losses because the deputies failed to effectuate the

stop at a safer location where the normal flow of traffic would not be impeded, they allowed Mr. Kaisner to stand between his pickup truck and the police cruiser, and the deputies were not properly trained to conduct non-emergency traffic stops. (R. 18-24, 174-194) Upon motion of the Defendants, the Honorable Trial Judge granted summary judgment in favor of all Defendants, based upon the doctrine of sovereign immunity, (R. 116) and the Plaintiffs instituted the instant appeal. (R. 118) The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed on the basis that the deputies owed no duty of care to Mr. Kaisner (A-1) and denied the Kaisners' Motion for Rehearing. (A-2,3) This Honorable Court then granted jurisdiction and the Kaisners now seek reversal of the decisions of the trial court and Second District Court of Appeal.

It should be noted that a declaratory action was also filed in connection with the instant case to determine whether coverage was provided for Plaintiffs' losses under either a police professional liability policy, a motor vehicle policy covering the police cruiser, or both. The second district affirmed the Trial Court's decision that coverage was provided by both policies. Kolb v. Kaisner, 437 So.2d 681 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983).

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I.

DOES A POLICE OFFICER OWE A DUTY OF CARE TO HIS DETAINEE DURING NON-EMERGENCY TRAFFIC STOPS?

II.

ARE A POLICE OFFICER'S NEGLIGENT USE OF A POLICE CRUISER AND NEGLIGENT PLACEMENT OF A DETAINEE IN A KNOWN DANGEROUS POSITION OPERATIONAL FUNCTIONS?

III.

IS THE SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY DEFENSE VOID TO THE EXTENT OF APPLICABLE AUTOMOBILE AND PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE PURCHASED BY THE SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Deputies Kolb and Jones owed a common law duty to protect Mr. Kaisner from unreasonable risk of physical harm pursuant to the Restatement, Second, of Torts, Section 314A, because the circumstances were such that they deprived Mr. Kaisner of his normal opportunity for self-protection by ordering him to remain between the two vehicles.

After having made the decision to detain Mr. Kaisner, deputies Kolb and Jones owed a duty of reasonable care toward him. This is consistent with the well-settled principle that any action undertaken, even gratuitously, must be performed in accordance with an obligation to provide reasonable care.

The deputies created a dangerous condition by stopping Mr. Kaisner in a through lane of traffic on a busy highway at rush hour and by ordering him to remain between the two vehicles. Since the deputies were aware of this danger, they had a duty to warn Mr. Kaisner of same. The failure to so warn of a known danger is a negligent omission at the operational level of government.

Recognition of a duty of reasonable care owed by police officers to detainees during routine traffic stops is consistent with the public policy espoused by the legislature and will merely provide incentives for safer traffic stops. It will not interfere with the administration of justice, nor will it bankrupt governmental entities. Finding that a duty is owed will also be

consistent with decisions in other jurisdictions.

The deputies' negligent use of the police cruiser and negligent placement of a detainee in a known dangerous position are clearly operational functions. These acts do not involve any policy-making or quasi-judicial decisions. They merely implement the quasi-judicial decision to detain. As such, they cannot be anything but operational in nature.

Even if this Honorable Court finds the questioned acts to be planning level functions, the Pinellas County Sheriff's Department carried both automobile and professional liability insurance. Therefore, the sovereign immunity defense is void to the extent of such coverage.

For the foregoing reasons, the decisions of the trial judge and Second District Court of Appeal should be reversed. In the alternative, if the Court should find that the sovereign immunity defense applies, the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal should be reversed and this matter should be remanded to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with Avallone and Jozwiak.

ARGUMENT

I.

A POLICE OFFICER ENGAGED IN A NON-EMERGENCY TRAFFIC STOP OWES A DUTY OF REASONABLE CARE TOWARD HIS DETAINEE.

In <u>Trianon Park Condominium Assn.</u>, Inc. v. City of <u>Hialeah</u>, 468 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1985), this Court embraced its previous analysis of the law of sovereign immunity set forth in <u>Commercial Carrier v. Indian River County</u>, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979), but emphasized that the legislature's waiver of sovereign immunity in Section 768.28 Fla. Stat. (1979) did not create any new duties where none previously existed. Therefore, as in any negligence action, the first inquiry herein must be whether some common law or statutory duty was owed to Mr. Kaisner by deputies Kolb and Jones.

The Restatement, Second, of Torts, Section 314A, is controlling as part of Florida's Common Law. s.2.01 et. seq., Fla. Stat. (1979). It provides as follows:

RESTATEMENT, SECOND, OF TORTS, SECTION 314A SPECIAL RELATIONS GIVING RISE TO A DUTY TO AID OR PROTECT

- (1) A common carrier is under a duty to its passengers to take reasonable action
- (a) to protect them against unreasonable risk of physical harm, and
- (b) to give them first aid after it knows or has reason to know that they are ill or injured, and to care for them until they can be cared for by others.
- (2) An innkeeper is under a similar duty to his quests.
- (3) A possessor of land who holds it open to the public is under a similar duty to members of the public who enter in response to his

invitation.

(4) One who is required by law to take or who voluntarily takes the custody of another under circumstances such as to deprive the other of his normal opportunities for protection is under a similar duty to the others.

Deputies Kolb and Jones voluntarily took custody of Mr. Kaisner by conducting a routine traffic stop. In so doing, and further by ordering Mr. Kaisner to "stay right there" (R. 153-154) between his vehicle and the police cruiser, the deputies deprived Mr. Kaisner of his normal opportunity to protect himself. As a result, the deputies owed Mr. Kaisner a common law duty to protect him against unreasonable risk of physical harm.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal recognized that police officers owe a duty of care to their detainees in <u>Walston v. Florida Highway Patrol</u>, 429 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). There the Plaintiffs were a driver and passenger of an automobile which had been stopped for suspicion of driving while intoxicated. Both the driver, Bartleman, and his passenger, Walston, had been drinking. The officers instructed Walston to leave the area, presumably on foot, and began field sobriety tests upon Bartleman. The officers required Bartleman to perform the tests between Bartleman's vehicle and the police cruiser, which were parked on a through lane of traffic. Instead of leaving, Walston followed Bartleman and the officers between the vehicles and both Walston and Bartleman were injured when the police cruiser was rearended. After a jury verdict favorable to the Plaintiffs, the trial court

entered a directed verdict in favor of the Highway Patrol, attributing the sole cause of the accident to the driver who rearended the police cruiser.

On appeal, the Highway Patrol conceded that the issue of foreseeability of an intervening cause presented a jury question. Gibson v. Avis Rent-A-Car Systems, Inc., 386 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1980). It argued, however, that no duty was owed by the officers to their detainees. The majority opinion, per Judge Cobb, was that the officers owed a duty to warn both Walston and Bartleman about the danger of standing between the two vehicles. In a concurring opinion, Judge Johnson stated that the officers owed a duty of reasonable care toward their detainees because the officers had stopped them, removed them from their vehicle, and proceeded to direct their movements.

In a concurring/dissenting opinion, Judge Cowart agreed with the majority opinion as it related to Bartleman, but not as to Walston. Judge Cowart concluded, in accordance with the Restatement, Second, of Torts, Section 314A, that the special relationship between the arresting officer and his arrestee gives rise to a duty to protect. In reaching this conclusion, Judge Cowart reasoned as follows:

Every citizen normally has the right to make decisions about where he is and will remain and has the duty to look out for himself by apprehending danger and avoiding it. However, by virtue of an arrest, the citizen loses that right and duty and the officer gains it. The officer is to be obeyed: "Get out of the car;" "Stand over here;" "Get in the back of the

police car; " "Get out and go into the police station." With the police officer's new right to direct and control the arrestee comes a concommitant duty to care for his safety. That duty varies with the situation and the need. If a situation is dangerous and the arrestee's ability to comprehend and react are impaired, the officer's duty is correspondingly increased. An officer who arrests and takes one into his custody, and under his direction and control, owes the arrestee a duty to use reasonable care for his safety and this duty reasonably includes the duty to not place the arrestee in, nor permit him to remain in, a place of foreseeable danger.

In reality, it makes no difference whether a suspect is actually arrested or is merely detained. He is still subject to the control of the investigating officer. Indeed, any detainee who refuses to obey an investigating officer's directives is subject to being charged with such crimes as obstructing an officer or fleeing and eluding. No citizen of this state with respect for the law would willfully disobey an officer's direct order, and the law should foster such conduct.

Deputies Kolb and Jones detained Mr. Kaisner and ordered him to "stay right there" (R. 153-154) between the two vehicles, thereby directing his movements. Deputy Kolb also admitted that he was aware of the danger of Mr. Kaisner standing between the two vehicles. (R. 143) Therefore, pursuant to all three theories of liability set forth in <u>Walston</u>, including the Restatement of Torts, s.314A, Deputies Kolb and Jones owed a duty of reasonable care toward Mr. Kaisner.

Other decisions in which courts have found a duty owed by

a police officer in the performance of his job are <u>City of North Bay Village v. Braelow</u>, 469 So.2d 870 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (negligence in conducting arrest); <u>Overby v. Willie</u>, 411 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (negligence in allowing prisoner to commit suicide); <u>Sintros v. LaValle</u>, 406 So.2d 483 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) (negligent driving during police chase); and <u>Weissberg v. City of Miami Beach</u>, 383 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (negligent direction of traffic). These decisions demonstrate not only that officers owe a duty of care in the performance of their work, but also the applicability of the maxim which follows.

A.

ANY ACTION UNDERTAKEN, EVEN GRATUITOUSLY, MUST BE PERFORMED WITH AN OBLIGATION TO PROVIDE REASONABLE CARE.

It is well settled that an action undertaken, even gratuitously, must be performed in accordance with an obligation to provide reasonable care. State of Florida, Dept. of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, Division of Highway Patrol v. Kropff, 491 So.2d 1252 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Banfield v. Addington, 140 So. 893 (Fla. 1932); Kerfoot v. Waychoff, 469 So.2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Barfield v. Langley, 432 So.2d 748 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); Kaufman v. A-1 Bus Lines, Inc., 416 So.2d 863 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Padgett v. School Board of Escambia County, 395 So.2d 584 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); Restatement, Second, of Torts, ss. 323, 324.

In <u>Kropff</u>, supra, the Plaintiff was involved in an automobile accident in the westbound lanes of Kendall Drive. Ms.

Kropff and her witnesses flagged down a highway patrol officer who was travelling east on Kendall Drive. The trooper left his patrol car with its emergency lights flashing in the eastbound left turn lane of Kendall Drive, which was on the opposite side of the street from Kropff's vehicle. While accompanying the trooper to assist him in his investigation, Ms. Kropff was struck by a passing motorist. After the jury returned a verdict for Kropff, the State appealed on the basis of sovereign immunity and lack of any duty owed to Ms. Kropff.

The Third District Court of Appeal, per Judge Hendry, found that the trooper owed a duty of reasonable care to Ms. Kropff because an action undertaken, even gratuitously, must be performed in accordance with an obligation to provide reasonable care. Then, utilizing the test set forth in Commercial Carrier v. Indian River County, supra, the Court further held that the trooper's actions in securing the scene were operational in nature. Therefore, the State was not immune from suit for failure to properly secure the scene of an accident.

There is no discernible difference between an officer securing the scene of an accident, as opposed to securing the scene of a traffic stop. In both instances, the cost of carelessness can be the lives of innocent citizens and the officer is in the best position to minimize potential danger by utilizing his training and expertise in avoiding accidents. Therefore, once Deputies Kolb and Jones decided to detain Mr. Kaisner, they owed a duty to exercise

reasonable care toward him. According to Mr. Kaisner's expert, the deputies could have used reasonable care by choosing a safer location for the stop, by using the police cruiser's public address system to direct Mr. Kaisner to a safer area, by not ordering Mr. Kaisner to stand between the vehicles, and generally by being better trained in conducting non-emergency traffic stops. (R. 18-24, 174-194) All of these are operational level functions for which the sheriff's department is not immune.

В.

DEPUTIES KOLB AND JONES OWED A DUTY TO WARN MR. KAISNER OF KNOWN DANGERS.

Beginning with the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Department of Transportation v. Neilson, 419 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1982), Florida courts have adhered to the principle that the doctrine of sovereign immunity does not shield a governmental entity from liability where its employees have created a known danger. Neilson involved allegations of negligence against the Florida Department of Transportation for the improper design and construction of a roadway and its traffic devices, as well as failure to warn motorists of the hazardous condition of the road. Although the Supreme Court upheld the Trial Judge's dismissal of the Complaint, it remanded to allow the Neilsons an opportunity to amend the Complaint by alleging that the Department of Transportation had created a known dangerous condition for which there was no proper warning. The Court, per Justice Overton, stated that the failure to so warn of a known danger is a negligent

omission at the operational level of government and cannot reasonably be argued within the judgmental, planning-level sphere. Id. at 1078.

Other Supreme Court decisions which have applied the known danger exception to sovereign immunity are Palm Beach County Board of Commissioners v. Salas, 12 FLW 388 (Fla. July 13, 1987); Ralph v. City of Daytona Beach, 471 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1983); and City of St. Petersburg v. Collom, 419 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1982). In Ralph, supra, the Court held that the City of Daytona Beach could be sued for allowing motorists to drive on a public beach and failing to warn sunbathers of the known danger created thereby. Likewise, in Collom, supra, this Court held that the City of St. Petersburg could be sued for failing to warn of the hazards created by the City's construction of a storm sewer without protective devices over its opening to prevent human beings from being swept into same during heavy rains. Most recently, in Salas, the government was found liable for failing to take reasonably necessary steps at a road maintenance work site to protect the safety of passing motorists.

The duties owed by deputies Kolb and Jones to Mr. Kaisner are no different from the duties found in Neilson, Salas, Ralph and Collom. By parking the police cruiser on a busy highway at rush hour within one car length of Mr. Kaisner's vehicle and by ordering him to remain between the two vehicles, the deputies exposed Mr. Kaisner to grave danger. Deputy Kolb admitted that he was aware of

this danger. (R. 143) Therefore, because the deputies created a known danger of which they failed to warn Mr. Kaisner, they breached a duty owed to Mr. Kaisner at the operational level of government.

C.

PUBLIC POLICY FAVORS THE EXISTENCE OF A DUTY OWED BY DEPUTIES JONES AND KOLB TO MR. KAISNER.

It has often been stated that there is a remedy for every wrong. Indeed, this maxim is one of the most fundamental principles in American jurisprudence. Unless this Court finds that the deputies owed a duty to Mr. Kaisner, he will have no remedy for the wrong committed by deputies Kolb and Jones.

The Florida legislature has stated its intent that the professional actions of deputy sheriffs be subject to judicial scrutiny by enacting s. 30.07 Fla. Stat. (1979). Said section provides that the sheriff shall be responsible for the neglect and default of deputies in the execution of their office. In Holland, for Use and Benefit of Williams, v. Mayes, 155 Fla. 129, 19 So.2d 709 (1944), the Florida Supreme Court held that a sheriff and his deputies are bound by the same rule of negligence that a civilian is bound by under like circumstances. Thus, deputies were held to the same standard as private persons even before the legislature waived sovereign immunity.

Recognition that a duty exists in this case will not only be a clear mandate to police officers, but will provide an

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