2

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

GLENN KAISNER and BARBARA KAISNER, his wife, Petitioners,

vs.

GARY JOSEPH KOLB, PINELLAS COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, AMERICAN DRUGGISTS INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation, and DALE ROBERT JONES,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 71,121

1841.88

District Court of Appeal No. 85-2507

RESPONDENTS ANSWER BRIEF

REX E. DELCAMP
JEFFREY R. FULLER
Williams, Brasfield, Wertz,
Fuller & Lamb, P.A.
P.O. Box 12349
St. Petersburg, FL 33733-2349
Attorneys for Respondents
(813) 327-2258/Tpa 224-0430

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Respondents, GARY JOSEPH KOLB, PINELLAS COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, AMERICAN DRUGGISTS INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corportion, and DALE ROBERT JONES, adopt the statement of the case and of the facts contained in the Second District's opinion Kaisner v. Kolb, 509 So2d 1213 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987).

Respondents would emphasize that Petitioner, GLENN KAISNER, was never instructed by the Respondent deputies to exit his vehicle and walk between the two vehicles. (R. 148,153,167) No more than three minutes elapsed from the time Mr. Kaisner was stopped to the time the collision occurred. (R. 143)

In the deposition of plaintiff's expert, GEORGE KIRKHAM, Dr. Kirkham testified that both discretion and training are very important in the conduct of a traffic stop. (R. 193) Deputy Kolb also testified that traffic stops involved the officer's discretion. (R. 138)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Deputies KOLB and JONES owed no duty of care to the Petitioner, GLENN KAISNER. Police officers have never owed a common law duty of care to an individual while exercising the discretionary judgmental power to enforce the law. The enactment by the Florida Legislature of \$768.28, Florida Statutes, did not create any previously unrecognized cause of action, but simply waived sovereign immunity which barred recovery for then existing common law duties of care. Because the Respondent deputies owed no duty of care, Petitioner cannot state a cause of action which would give rise to liability to which the affirmative defense of sovereign immunity would apply.

Even if such a duty of care was owed by Respondents, Deputies KOLB and JONES should not have been sued individually because Petitioner's cause of action was barred by §768.28(9)(a), Florida Statutes. Although Petitioner's cause of action may have accrued prior to the effective date of said statute, application of the statute to the instant case would not constitute an unconstitutional retroactive application of the statute because no substantive right of Petitioner would be affected thereby. Furthermore, any duty owed by the individual deputies is a general duty owed solely to the public at large, the negligent performance of which cannot give rise to individual liability.

Finally, Avallone v. Board of County Commissioners, 493 So2d 1002 (Fla. 1986), was essentially overruled by the Florida Legislature's enactment of 87-137, Laws of Florida. Because the affirmative defense of sovereign immunity is not at issue, however, Avallone is inapplicable to this case.

ARGUMENT

RESPONDENTS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO SUIT BY PETITIONERS FOR THE DISCRETIONARY ACTIONS OF THE RESPONDENT DEPUTIES IN CONDUCTING AN INVESTIGATORY TRAFFIC STOP.

Petitioners correctly note that the initial inquiry for the Court is whether the Respondent Sheriff's Department and deputies owed a duty to the Petitioner, GLENN KAISNER. This Honorable Court answered that question in Trianon Park Condominium v. City of Hialeah, 468 So2d 912 (Fla. 1985), when it held, "there has never been a common law duty to individual citizens for the enforcement of police power functions." Id at 914 and 915.

In <u>Trianon Park</u>, the Court catagorized governmental functions and activities into four categories: "(I) legislative, permitting, licensing and executive officer functions; (II) enforcement of laws and the protection of the public safety; (III) capital improvements and property control operation; and (IV) providing professional, educational and general services for the health and welfare of the citizens." Id at 919. The Court further elaborated that:

We find . . . no governmental tort liability for the action or inaction of governmental officials or employees in carrying out the discretionary governmental functions described in categories I and II because there has never been a common law duty of care with respect to these legislative, executive, and police power functions, and the statutory waiver of sovereign immunity did not create a new duty of care. On the other hand, there may be substantial governmental liability under categories III and IV. This result follows because there is a common law duty of care regarding how properties are maintained and operated and how professional and general services are performed.

Id at 921. The Court, however, added:

The lack of a common law duty for exercising a discretionary police power function must . . . be distinguished from existing common law duties of care applicable to the same officials or employees in the operation of motor vehicles or the handling of firearms during the course of their employment to enforce compliance with the law. In these latter circumstances there has always been a common law duty of care and the waiver of sovereign immunity now allows actions against all governmental entities for violations of those duties of care.

Id at 920.

Although the Respondent deputies used an automobile investigatory traffic to conduct an stop of the Petitioner, it is not the operation of the motor vehicle for which the Petitioners contend a duty exists. The essence of the Petitioners' claims involves the Respondent deputies' decision to stop Petitioners where they did, and the manner in which the investigatory traffic stop was conducted. Deputy KOLB testified, and the Petitioner's expert even admitted, that such a traffic stop necessarily involves the professional judgment and discretion of the law enforcement officer. In Trianon Park, supra, and Everton v. Willard, 468 So.2d 936 (Fla. 1985), this Court made clear that such "discretionary power is considered basic to the police power function of governmental entities and is recognized as critical to a law enforcement officer's ability to carry out his duties", for which a common law duty of care has never been owed to an individual. Everton, at 938.

The Court concluded as follows:

entity is going to be held liable for the negligent discretionary, judgmental decisions made by its police officers in enforcing the law, this means of accountability by tort liability should be imposed by the elected representatives in the legislative branch who may create this new duty of care and place this fiscal responsibility on the governmental entity and its taxpayors, rather than having the judiciary establish this new duty by judicial fiat.

Everton, at 939. For the Court to find such a duty:

Would represent an unconstitutional intrusion by the judiciary into the discretionary judgmental functions of both the legislative and executive branches of government.

Trianon Park, at 923.

Despite this Court's pronouncement that no duty exists, Petitioners vainly grasp at a variety of straw duties which they must assume this Court has overlooked. Petitioners cite \$314A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts which provides in subpart (4) "one who is required by law to take or who voluntarily takes the custody of another under circumstances such as to deprive the other of his normal opportunities for protection is under a similar duty to the others."

The foregoing proposition forms the basis for the decision in <u>Walston v. Florida Highway Patrol</u>, 429 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). <u>Walston</u>, with which the Second District Court of Appeal expressly and directly disagreed in the instant case, Kaisner v. Kolb, 509 So.2d

1213 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987), held that the defendant law enforcement officers owed the same duty of care to an intoxicated driver whom they had arrested as an intoxicated passenger who was not taken into custody but who remained at the scene and was injured. Respondents submit that the 5th District Court of Appeal in Walston incorrectly held a duty of care was owed to the intoxicated passenger who was not taken into custody.

The correct analysis and conclusion in <u>Walston</u> can be found in the concurring/dissenting opinion of Judge Cowart who notes that the officers owed no duty to protect the passenger who was not arrested nor taken into custody, and who had been told to leave. The intoxicated driver who was arrested and taken into custody was deprived of the normal opportunity to protect himself and therefore, pursuant to \$314A, Restatement (Second) of Torts, was owed a duty of care by the arresting officer. The passenger who was not arrested, however, was not in any way deprived by the law enforcement officers of his ability to protect himself. The Fifth District Court of Appeals was incorrect in holding a duty of care was owed to that individual.

Similarly, the Petitioner in the instant case was not under arrest nor in custody, and in fact walked to his position of peril on his own without direction by either of the Respondent deputies. Petitioner suggests that he was told to "stay right there" and that he could have been charged with obstruction or "fleeing and

eluding" had he taken a step in any direction. The only authority suggested for this proposition, M.C. v. State, 450 So2d 336 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) involved an investigatory stop of a person who attempted to flee or avoid detention, not someone seeking to avoid bodily injury from a speeding automobile. Petitioner was not in custody and had every right to protect himself against bodily injury caused by third parties.

Petitioners cite a variety of appellate decisions which purport to hold a police officer to a duty of care in the "performance of his job". In City of North Bay Village v. Braelow, 469 So2d 870 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985), however, the officers were arresting the plaintiff. In Overby v. Willie, 411 So2d 1331 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), an arrestee was allowed to commit suicide. Both Braelow and Overby obviously involve persons in custody to whom a duty of care would apply. In Sintros v. LaValle, 406 So.2d 483 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), a law enforcement officer was found to owe a duty of care when driving his vehicle, action clearly recognized by this Court in Trianon Park, supra, as giving rise to a duty of care. Finally, Petitioners cite Weissberg v. City of Miami Beach, 383 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980) in which the officer failed to follow an established municipal procedure regarding direction of traffic at a work site and not involving any discretionary law enforcement function.

Petitioner next seizes upon a legal maxim suggesting "any action undertaken, even gratuitously,

must be performed with an obligation to provide reasonable care." It must be noted that Petitioners leave out the key phrase appearing in all the cases cited as authority for this proposition, that the action is undertaken "for the benefit of another". This Court has recognized that a common law duty of care to an individual has never been owed by a police officer enforcing the law. Everton, at 938. Everton does note, however, that a "special relationship" between an individual and a governmental entity might give rise to a duty of care to an individual in a situation suggesting reliance by the individual.

This relationship is illustrated by the situation in which the police accept the responsibility to protect a particular person who has assisted them in the arrest or prosecution of criminal defendants and the individual is in danger due to that assistance.

Everton, at 938. Such a special relationship was recognized in the recent case of Hartley v. Floyd, 12 FLW 2098, ____ So2d ___ (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), in which a deputy sheriff advised the plaintiff he would check a boat ramp and notify the Coast Guard regarding the plaintiff's missing husband, and then failed to do so. The Court held that the deputy's agreement to check the boat ramp and notify the Coast Guard, upon which the plaintiff relied, gave rise to a duty to perform the agreed task. In the instant case, however, no such agreement by Respondents or reliance by Petitioners is present.

Of all the cases cited in support of the proposition that an action undertaken for the benefit of another gives rise to a duty of care, the only case

involving a law enforcement officer is State of Florida, Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Kropff, 491 So2d 1252 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986). In addition to the multiple distinguishing features noted by the Second District Court of Appeal in Kaisner v. Kolb, supra, it is further noted that the State Trooper in Kropff violated the Florida Highway Patrol's own guidelines as in Rupp v. Bryant, 417 So2d 658 (Fla. 1982) and Weissberg, supra. Discretion was not involved.

In the instant case Deputy KOLB testified that the investigatory traffic stop in question involved discretion and this was borne out by the testimony of Petitioner's own expert witness who cited no regulation of the Respondent Sheriff's Department which had been violated.

Petitioners next attempt to impose a duty upon the Respondent deputies to warn Petitioner of a known danger. Again Petitioners omit a key qualifying phrase from the rule of law which they contend imposes a duty of care upon Respondents. In City of St. Petersburg v. Collom, 419 So2d 1082 (Fla. 1982), this Court held that a duty to warn or protect the public arises from the creation of a known dangerous condition "which is not readily apparent to persons who could be injured by that condition". Id. at 1083. This is important because Petitioner, GLENN KAISNER, was well aware that he was stopped ahead of a Sheriff's Department vehicle in an active lane of traffic. Any 16 year old who has taken

a Driver's Education class knows better than to walk or stand between two parked vehicles. And because Petitioner was facing the deputies' vehicle, he was in a better position than the deputies to know of the danger, to wit: a third vehicle speeding up behind the deputies' vehicle. A cursory review of the authorities cited by Petitioners in support of this proposition, however, reveals that the cases are not remotely on point. All four of the cases cited by Petitioners pertain to construction, maintenance or operation of public areas and roadways, not investigating law enforcement officers.

Petitioners next contend that public policy favors the existence of a duty of care owed by Respondents to Petitioners. Petitioners claim that they will, otherwise, have no remedy for their injuries, apparently forgetting the driver of the third vehicle who was the proximate cause of the accident.

Petitioners argue that §30.07, Florida Statutes (1979) evidences a legislative intent to create such a duty. §30.07 only provides that the Sheriff is vicariously liable for the actionable conduct of his deputies; a statute enacted "for the benefit of the general public (does) not automatically create an independent duty to either individual citizens or a specific class of citizens." Trianon Park, at 917, citing Restatement (Second) of Torts §288, comment b (1964).

Petitioners then contend that this Court has held a Sheriff and his deputies are bound by the same rules

of negligence applicable to a civilian under like circumstances, citing Holland v. Mayes, 19 So2d 709 (Fla. 1944). In Holland, a law enforcement officer hunting with a posse shot one of the members in his search party, an activity (handling of firearms) clearly actionable under the common law as recognized in Trianon Park, supra.

Petitioners suggest that a finding of a duty in this case will send a "clear mandate to police officers" and an incentive for political subdivisions to protect the public during traffic stops. The real message that will be sent, however, is that a police officer should never pull over a suspected traffic violator because the officer will be held liable for any injury caused by third parties during the course of the traffic stop. Public policy, contrary to Petitioners' position, favors an independent executive branch which can effectively enforce the laws without fear of judicial interference. Advancement of any such public policy is more properly delegated to the legislature, as recognized in Everton v. Willard, supra. It is important to note that as of the present time, the legislature has failed to impose such a duty on law enforcement officers as that urged by Petitioners.

Petitioners cite cases from four foreign jurisdictions, apparently ignoring the several foreign jurisdictions cited to the contrary in Commercial Carrier, supra, and suggest a trend toward the imposition of a duty of care to individuals upon investigating law

enforcement officers. Two of the cases did not even involve the question of whether a duty existed, but rather whether a state statute was violated by the investigating officer. Ryan v. State, 656 P2d 597 (1982), abrogated Arizona's "no-duty rule", but Petitioners fail to note that Ryan was expressly rejected by this Court three years later in Everton v. Willard, supra.

THE INDIVIDUAL RESPONDENT DEPUTIES ARE NOT SUBJECT TO SUIT FOR THEIR DISCRETIONARY ACTIONS IN CONDUCTING AN INVESTIGATORY TRAFFIC STOP.

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